
 
 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
PACKET 

 
FOR 

 

Tuesday, August 16, 2022 
 

Sherwood City Hall 
22560 SW Pine Street 

Sherwood, Oregon 
 
 

5:30 pm City Council Work Session 
 

7:00 pm City Council Regular Meeting  
 

City Council Executive Session 
(ORS 192.660(2)(e), Real Property Transactions) 

(Following the Regular Session) 
 
 

This meeting will be live streamed at 
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood  

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood


 

City Council Agenda                                                                                                                                                        
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
5:30 PM WORK SESSION 
 
1. Sherwood West/Brookman Hwy 99W Crossing Study 

(Erika Palmer, Planning Manager) 
2. Council Goals – Review and Update 

(Keith Campbell, City Manager) 
 
7:00 PM REGULAR SESSION 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Approval of July 19, 2022 City Council Meeting Minutes (Sylvia Murphy, City Recorder) 
B. Approval of August 2, 2022 City Council Meeting Minutes (Sylvia Murphy, City Recorder) 
C. Apprval of August 10, 2022 City Council meeting Minute (Sylvia Murphy, City Recorder) 
D. Resolution 2022-066, Reappointing Kade Strode to the Sherwood Budget Committee   

(David Bodway, Finance Director) 
E. Resolution 2022-067, Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract with Total Range 

Solutions to renovate the Police Department’s Indoor Firing Range 
(Craig Sheldon, Public Works Director) 
 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

7. PRESENTATIONS 
 

A. Introduction of New Sherwood Police Captain (Ty Hanlon, Police Chief) 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. Resolution 2022-068, Authorizing Workback Policy for Sherwood Police Department 

(Ty Hanlon, Police Chief) 
B. Resolution 2022-069, Authorizing amendment of Compensation Policy for Police Sergeants at 

the Sherwood Police Department (Ty Hanlon, Police Chief) 
 

AGENDA 
 

SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL 
August 16, 2022 

 
 

5:30 pm City Council Work Session 
 

7:00 pm City Council Regular Session 
 

City Council Executive Session 
(ORS 192.660(2)(e), Real Property Transactions) 

(Following the Regular Council Meeting) 
 
 

Sherwood City Hall 
22560 SW Pine Street 
Sherwood, OR  97140 

 
This meeting will be live streamed at 

https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood  

2

https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood


 

City Council Agenda                                                                                                                                                        
August 16, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 

9. CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 

10. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
11. ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

A. ORS 192.660(2)(e), Real Property Transactions 
 

12. ADJOURN 
 

 
How to Provide Citizen Comments and Public Hearing Testimony: Citizen comments and public hearing testimony may be provided in person, in writing, or by 
telephone. Written comments must be submitted at least 24 hours in advance of the scheduled meeting start time by e-mail to Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov and 
must clearly state either (1) that it is intended as a general Citizen Comment for this meeting or (2) if it is intended as testimony for a public hearing, the specific public 
hearing topic for which it is intended. To provide comment by phone during the live meeting, please e-mail or call the City Recorder at Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov 
or 503-625-4246 at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting start time in order to receive the phone dial-in instructions. Per Council Rules Ch. 2 Section (V)(D)(5), Citizen 
Comments, “Speakers shall identify themselves by their names and by their city of residence.” Anonymous comments will not be accepted into the meeting record. 
 
How to Find out What's on the Council Schedule: City Council meeting materials and agenda are posted to the City web page at www.sherwoodoregon.gov, generally 
by the Thursday prior to a Council meeting. When possible, Council agendas are also posted at the Sherwood Library/City Hall and the Sherwood Post Office.  
 
To Schedule a Presentation to the Council: If you would like to schedule a presentation to the City Council, please submit your name, phone number, the subject of 
your presentation and the date you wish to appear to the City Recorder, 503-625-4246 or Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov   
 
ADA Accommodations: If you require an ADA accommodation for this public meeting, please contact the City Recorder’s Office at (503) 625-4246 or 
Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov at least 48 hours in advance of the scheduled meeting time. 
 

3

mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
http://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/
mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov


DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 1 of 13 

 
 

SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
22560 SW Pine St., Sherwood, Or 

July 19, 2022 
 
WORK SESSION 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER: Council President Rosener called the work session to order at 6:30 pm. 
 
2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Council President Tim Rosener, Councilors Kim Young, Doug Scott , and Taylor Giles. 

Mayor Keith Mays and Councilor Sean Garland participated remotely. Councilor Renee Brouse was absent. 
 
3. STAFF PRESENT: IT Director Brad Crawford, City Attorney Josh Soper, Economic Development Manager 

Bruce Coleman, Police Chief Ty Hanlon, Records Technician Katie Corgan, and City Recorder Sylvia 
Murphy. City Manager Keith D. Campbell participated remotely. 

 
4. TOPICS: 

 
A. League of Oregon Cities (LOC) Legislative Priorities 

Council President Rosener explained that every two years the LOC’s Policy Committee comes up with 
initiatives. He commented that it was likely that some of the more popular topics such as home rule and right-
of-way protections would already be LOC legislative priorities, so cities should not necessarily use their vote 
on those types of topics. City Manager Keith Campbell presented the “2023 League of Oregon Cities 
Legislative Priorities” PowerPoint presentation (see record, Exhibit A) and provided background. He 
explained that in even-numbered years, the LOC appointed members to serve on seven policy committees 
and were the foundation of the LOC’s policy development process. He explained that the committees were 
tasked with analyzing policy and technical issues and recommending positions and strategies for the LOC. 
He outlined that each committee provided a list of recommended policy positions and actions for the LOC to 
take on in the upcoming two-year legislative cycle. He explained that Sherwood could review the proposals 
and vote for five topics the city wanted the LOC to focus on during the 2023 legislative session and that 
Sherwood was permitted one vote. He stated that the seven committees were: Community Development; 
General Government; Energy and Environment; Finance and Taxation; Telecommunications, Broadband; 
Transportation; and Waste and Wastewater. Mr. Campbell reported that there were 29 policy proposals for 
Council to review. He referred to the “LOC 2023 Legislative Priorities Ballot” handout (see record, Exhibit B) 
and commented more detailed information on the policies could be found there. He provided a brief overview 
of the proposed committee priorities on pages 4-10 of Exhibit A. He explained that out of the 29 policy 
proposals, Council needed to decide on five items that they wanted to vote on to encourage the LOC to 
prioritize. City Manager Campbell addressed the Community Development and Policy priorities and Council 
discussed and agreed to support the “Full Funding and Alignment for State Land Use Initiatives” policy. City 
Manager Campbell addressed the General Government Policy Committee priorities, Council discussed and 
concluded to not select any policies from the General Government Policy Committee. City Manager Campbell 

4



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 2 of 13 

addressed the Energy and Environment Policy Committee priorities, Council discussed and concluded to not 
select any policies from the Energy and Environment Policy Committee. City Manager Campbell addressed 
the Finance and Taxation Policy Committee priorities and Council discussed and agreed to support the 
“Lodging Tax Flexibility” policy. City Manager Campbell addressed the Telecommunications, Broadband 
Policy Committee priorities and Council discussed and agreed to support the “Digital Equity and Inclusion” 
and “Incentives for Broadband Affordability, Adoption and Consumer Protections” policies. City Manager 
Campbell addressed the Transportation Policy Committee priorities and Council discussed and agreed to 
support the “Transportation Safety Enhancement” policy. City Manager Campbell addressed the Waste and 
Wastewater Policy Committee priorities, Council discussed and concluded to not select any policies from the 
Waste and Wastewater Policy Committee. Mr. Campbell recapped next steps and stated that a resolution 
would be drafted for the August 2, 2022 City Council meeting authorizing the City Manager to cast a vote on 
behalf of the city. After the passage of the resolution, Mr. Campbell would submit the city’s vote. 

5. ADJOURNED: 
 

Mayor Mays adjourned the work session at 7:00 pm. 
 
REGULAR SESSION 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Council President Rosener called the meeting to order at 7:05 pm. 
 
2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Council President Tim Rosener, Councilors Kim Young, Doug Scott , and Taylor Giles. 

Mayor Keith Mays and Councilor Sean Garland participated remotely. Councilor Renee Brouse was absent. 
 

3. STAFF PRESENT: City Attorney Josh Soper, IT Director Brad Crawford, Public Works Director Craig 
Sheldon, Community Services Director Kristen Switzer, City Engineer Bob Galati, and City Recorder Sylvia 
Murphy. City Manager Keith D. Campbell participated remotely. 

 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR YOUNG TO APPROVE THE AGENDA. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR 
GILES. MOTION PASSED 6:0, ALL PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR BROUSE 
WAS ABSENT).  

 
Council President Rosener addressed the next agenda item and noted that Item C under Consent had been 
updated to include Daniel Bantz’s name in place of “TBD” and Item H under Consent had been added just 
prior to this meeting. He stated updated agendas and meeting packets had been uploaded to the city website.  
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A. Approval of June 29, 2022 City Council Meeting Minutes 
B. Resolution 2022-054, Appointing Alan Rappleyea as Interim City Attorney  
C. Resolution 2022-055, Forming and Appointing  the Members of a Technical Advisory Committee 

to Update the 2021 Economic Opportunities Analysis 
D. Resolution 2022-056, Authorizing the City Manager to Sign a Service Order with 1547 CSR – 

Pittock Block LLC for Data Center Space and Connectivity 
E. Resolution 2022-057, Authorizing City Manager to enter into the Washington County Emergency 

Management  Cooperative Intergovernmental Agreement 
5



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 3 of 13 

F. Resolution 2022-058, Authorizing City Manager to sign a Professional Services Contract with 
KPFF Consulting Engineers for 100% Design Level of the Hwy99W Pedestrian Overcrossing (Bob  

G. Resolution 2022-059, Reappointing Casey Chen to the Cultural Arts Commission 
H. Resolution 2022-060, Authorizing the City Manager to Acquire Real Property 

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR YOUNG TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA. SECONDED BY 
MAYOR MAYS. MOTION PASSED 6:0, ALL PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR 
BROUSE WAS ABSENT). 

 
Council President Rosener addressed the next agenda item. 

 
6. CITIZEN COMMENTS: 

 
Sherwood resident Jim Claus came forward to address Council and stated that this was in part an effort to 
exhaust administrative rights because it appeared to him that there was little to no chance to avoid litigation 
with the city. He stated that a city planner had said that fees to appeal were to cover their costs and Mr. Claus 
stated that that was not true. He stated that when Walt Hitchcock was mayor, Mayor Hitchcock had introduced 
that policy specifically to discourage appeals and had said as much. He stated that previously, people could 
speak as long as they wanted as long as they did not repeat themselves. Mr. Claus stated that the city’s 
planners were not lawyers, but continually acted like lawyers. He reported that only one state had managed 
to require that American Planning Association members be registered and certified to work in their state and 
commented that that requirement had not lasted long. Mr. Claus stated that “these people are not 
professionals, they’re not lawyers and they should not be practicing the law” and that was what was 
happening. He stated that every time you did not look at a code, the city planners started to interpret it. He 
stated that City Attorney Josh Soper was unable to do anything about that because he really worked for the 
City Council, and would soon leave for a job at Beery, Elsner & Hammond. He continued that it was “turning 
into a zoo” because there was no attorney to talk things through with which was forcing litigation to occur. 
Mr. Claus stated that that was a “bad road to go down” with him because he would not litigate over money, 
but he would litigate over principle. He stated that Mayor Mays was taking zoning away from the Clauses, 
and despite what the City Charter said, Mayor Mays was passing zoning on to his contributors. Mr. Claus 
stated that when he taught planning at the university level, he always advised that if someone could not 
determine what a word meant as a planner, they needed to seek a legal opinion. He stated that the city’s 
planners interpreted, and the documents stated otherwise. He urged Council to rethink this because 
Sherwood was a small town and there was “no reason you should provoke a citizen into filing a lawsuit 
particularly when they’re elderly, ill, and were going to ask for triple damages and attorney’s fees.” 
  
Council President Rosener addressed the next agenda item and City Attorney Josh Soper read aloud the 
public hearings statement. The statement asked Council members to declare any ex parte contacts, bias or 
conflict of interest. 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

A. Appeal Hearing for LU 2022-004 MM Sentinel Storage Major Modification 
 
Councilor Giles stated that he served as the City Council liaison to the Planning Commission when the initial 
hearings were happening. He stated he did not participate in any of the deliberation and that he planned on 
participating at this meeting. Council President Rosener stated he rented a storage unit at Sentinel Storage, 

6



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 4 of 13 

but he did not believe that that would have any impact on his decision. Mayor Mays stated that he rented two 
storage units at Sentinel Storage, but not at the location of this project. He stated that he had not spoken 
with the applicant or the property management company regarding the proposal. He stated he had met an 
attorney that worked for the applicant, but they had not discussed the proposal. Mayor Mays asked City 
Attorney Josh Soper if his status as a customer of Sentinel Storage was an actual or potential conflict of 
interest and should he participate? Mr. Soper replied that his opinion was that it was at most a potential 
conflict of interest, but he did not see how Mayor Mays would economically be benefitted or harmed by the 
result of this decision and that it did not seem necessary for Mayor Mays to recuse himself. Councilor Young 
stated that she rented a storage unit at Sentinel Storage, but not at the location of this project. City Attorney 
Soper asked if anyone in attendance wished to challenge or question any of the Councilor’s disclosures? 
Sherwood resident Jim Claus challenged Mayor Mays’s disclosures and stated that Mayor Mays was biased 
against him and Mayor Mays had a direct conflict of interest. Mr. Claus stated that Mayor Mays had 
“continually taken things like the Urban Renewal project and misdirected the money…to Langer’s on Langer 
Farms Parkway” and spoke on Home Depot’s zoning. He stated that Mayor Mays had done nothing but 
benefitted that group and he was prejudiced against anything Mr. Claus said and Mayor Mays should recuse 
himself. He stated Mayor Mays had financial interest and he would pursue ethics if Mayor Mays did not 
recuse himself. Mr. Claus stated he would pursue Mayor Mays’s constant badgering of him via city staff and 
that Mayor Mays was willing to break both constitutional law in the state of Oregon and case law and had 
proceeded to tell potential buyers not to look at the Claus’s property because they did not like them. Mayor 
Mays replied that the city had challenged the Home Depot issue and the county had given the city the money 
to build most of Langer Farms Parkway. He stated he had no issue recusing himself if Council wanted him 
to do so. City Attorney Soper stated that the operative question was whether or not Mayor Mays had any 
bias that would render him incapable of rendering a decision. Council President Rosener stated that he did 
not believe Mayor Mays had any bias and was fine with him participating. Councilor Giles stated that he also 
did not believe Mayor Mays had any bias and asked if the meeting procedures would go better if Mayor Mays 
recused himself? Mayor Mays stated he would recuse himself from the hearing.  
 
Associate Planner Eric Rutledge presented the “LU 2022-004 MM Sentinel Storage II Major Modification 
Land Use Appeal Hearing” PowerPoint presentation (see record, Exhibit C) and provided an overview of the 
application and appeal summary. He reported that Langer Storage 2, LLC was the applicant and Jim and 
Susan Claus were the appellants. He explained that the proposal was for the removal of an existing RV 
canopy and replacement with a 3-story self-storage building containing approximately 575 storage units and 
the zoning on the site was Light Industrial PUD. He stated this was a Type IV land use action. Mr. Rutledge 
reported that staff had received additional testimony on July 19, 2022 from attorney Jeffery Kleinman (see 
record, Exhibit D) who represented the Appellant. He provided an overview of the applicable criteria of the 
Sherwood Zoning and Community Development Code (SZCDC) on page 4 of the presentation and explained 
that this was what the Planning Commission had based their discussion on. He provided an overview of the 
site and existing conditions and explained that the site was located at 21900 SW Langer Farms Parkway and 
was approximately 6.14 acres. He stated that the site was fully developed as an RV and self-storage facility 
that included buildings, drive aisles, utilities, and landscaping and the adjacent roadway (SW Langer Farms 
Parkway) was fully developed to city standards for a 3-lane collector. He reported that the site was approved 
in 2016 under a site plan approval and the Applicant was now proposing a major modification to that site 
plan. Mr. Rutledge reported that the site was zoned as Light Industrial PUD and stated that Langer’s 
Entertainment Center was to the north, additional storage to the east, a multi-tenant industrial building to the 
south, and the St. Francis Church and school and some residential properties were located to the west of 
the property. He explained that the property was in the Sherwood Village PUD that was approved by the City 
Council in 1995 and the site was in phase 8. He reported that there had been various modifications to the 

7



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 5 of 13 

PUD over the years and most of the area had been built-out and included Walmart, Target, and some 
residential townhomes. Mr. Rutledge explained that in Sherwood, the applicant gets the initial PUD approval 
and states the phases that would occur and the uses in the zoning for each phase, and this application was 
in phase 8 with Light Industrial zoning. He explained that the proposal was not a modification to the PUD but 
was a modification to the site plan approval for this specific site, which was approved in 2016. He provided 
an overview of the site plan and access on page 8 of the presentation. Associate Planner Rutledge explained 
that because the building was located on a collector road, it was subject to the city’s Industrial Design 
Standards and the Applicant was required to use two different building materials; have a maximum 35-foot 
setback; and parking, loading, and mechanical equipment could not be visible from the street. He reported 
that the application had complied with those standards. He addressed “Appeal Issue #1 – Use Determination 
Under ORS 92.040” and explained that the Appellant argued that the Planning Commission misinterpreted 
ORS 92.040 as it applied to the application and the factual history of the subject property, and that ORS 
92.040 did not permit the applicant to ignore the provisions of the SZCDC to site a use that was expressly 
prohibited by the code on the subject property. Mr. Rutledge summarized that the Planning Commission had 
determined that self-storage was not a permitted use under the current Light Industrial zone, but the use was 
permitted on the property until August 28, 2022 pursuant to ORS 92.040 and the previous land use approvals 
issued on the property. He read Subsections 2 and 3 of ORS 92.040 aloud and explained how they related 
to the application and the use determination by the Planning Commission. He explained that in 2012, there 
was a subdivision that included this property as well as other properties on the east side of Langer Farms 
Parkway and the subdivision was approved on August 28, 2012. He explained that when the subdivision was 
approved, the zoning on the property was Light Industrial and at the time the Light Industrial Code said that 
approved PUDs may elect to establish uses which were permitted or conditionally permitted under the base 
zone text applicable at the time of final approval of the PUD, and the PUD was originally approved in 1995. 
He continued that the 1995 code said that if the zoning was Light Industrial, the permitted uses in the Light 
Industrial zone included uses permitted outright in the General Commercial zone which included mini-
warehousing. Associate Planner Rutledge outlined that it was staff’s opinion that the city had not established 
a different time period other than the 10-year time period cited in Subsection 3 of ORS 92.040 and the 
Planning Commission had found that the self-storage use was permitted on the property until August 28, 
2022. He addressed “Appeal Issue #2 – Open Record Period Under ORS 197.797 (6)(b) and explained that 
the Appellant argued that the Planning Commission erred by refusing to keep the record open at the 
continuance hearing, as demanded by the Appellants pursuant to ORS 197.797(6)(b) and the Applicant and 
staff had offered new evidence which the Appellant was not given the opportunity to rebut. Mr. Rutledge 
provided background and explained that the Planning Commission held the initial evidentiary hearing and 
the Appellant had provided testimony at that hearing and requested that the record be left open, and their 
request was accepted. At the continuance hearing two weeks later, the Appellant again requested that the 
record be left open because new evidence had been submitted at that meeting. The Planning Commission 
said that what was submitted was not new evidence and therefore the record was not required to be left open 
for additional time. He read aloud from ORS 197.797(6)(b) and cited the ORS definitions for the words 
“argument” and “evidence” and outlined that the Planning Commission would only have been required to 
leave the record open if new written evidence was submitted at the continued hearing. He explained that the 
Planning Commission had based their decision on the fact that at the continued hearing, staff had given a 
presentation and no new evidence was provided in the staff presentation. He continued that he believed the 
new evidence the Appellant was referring to was a letter from the Applicant’s attorney regarding the testimony 
received at the initial hearing and was submitted to the city on the day of the continued hearing. Associate 
Planner Rutledge stated that per ORS definition of “evidence,” no new evidence was submitted through staff 
or through the referenced letter. He added that state law required that new written evidence must be 
submitted at the continued hearing and the letter was submitted by the Applicant’s attorney via email to staff 

8



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 6 of 13 

and uploaded to the city’s website prior to the continued hearing meeting and was strictly a response to what 
was already in the record. He outlined that for those reasons, the Planning Commission had determined that 
the record did not need to be left open for additional time and they closed the record and issued a decision. 
Mr. Rutledge explained that it was staff’s recommendation for City Council to review the applicable approval 
criteria, the appeal petition, and Planning Commission decision and affirm the Planning Commission’s 
decision in approving the application. He provided an overview of the alternatives as: tentatively affirm the 
Planning Commission’s decision and approve the application based on the Planning Commission Findings 
Report dated May 11, 2022, tentatively amend the Planning Commission’s decision and approve the 
application with additional or amended findings of compliance, or tentatively reverse the Planning 
Commission’s decision and deny the application with amended findings of non-compliance. He added that 
under all alternatives, Council should also authorize the mayor to sign a Notice of Decision including written 
findings consistent with Council’s tentative decision on or before August 4, 2022. Council President Rosener 
asked City Attorney Soper if Mayor Mays was still the appropriate person to sign the Notice of Decision since 
he had recused himself? Mr. Soper replied that Council President Rosener should sign the Notice of Decision 
instead. Councilor Giles asked when in the timeline between the two meetings was the rebuttal letter 
submitted? Associate Planner Rutledge replied that the letter was submitted several hours before the 
continued hearing and added that it was the Planning Commission’s opinion that the content of the letter was 
not considered new evidence. Councilor Scott referred to the 10-year time period cited in the ORS and asked 
if the August 28, 2022 expiration date was because the city did not have an alternative established time 
period, which made the ORS 10-year timeframe be applied by default? Mr. Rutledge replied that the way the 
Planning Commission applied the ORS was that when the 2012 subdivision occurred, the Applicant had not 
elected a different time period other than the 10 years. He continued that the Appellant had argued that 
development agreements that the Applicant had entered into with the city had established a different time 
period, which would have expired in 2015 and 2017. He reported that the Planning Commission had found 
that those development agreements were signed and executed before the 2012 subdivision and there was 
nothing within the agreements that spoke on ORS, subdivisions, etc. Councilor Scott clarified that he wanted 
clarification on if the 10-year time frame was the default or if it should be interpreted as “not to exceed 10 
years” instead. City Attorney Soper explained that Subsection 3 of ORS 92.040 stated that the local 
government had the option of establishing a time period, but regardless of what the local government had 
established, the period shall not exceed 10 years. Discussion occurred regarding the ORS rule needing 
better clarity. Council President Rosener asked if City Attorney Soper had provided legal interpretations for 
staff throughout the process? Mr. Soper replied that was correct. Councilor Giles asked City Attorney Soper 
if he had also assisted the Planning Commission during their process? Mr. Soper replied that was correct. 
Discussion regarding instances where letters and replies to letters impacted the hearings process occurred 
and Councilor Scott commented that the issue seemed to be deciding where the line was when it came to 
addressing points that were previously raised versus introducing new evidence. Mr. Soper replied that 
Councilor Scott was correct and that was when the definitions of “argument” versus “evidence” came into 
play and explained that at a certain point, the record was left open for written responses and there was a 
finite number of days that the process happened. Council read Exhibit D.  
 
Council President Rosener opened the public hearing and asked for public comment. 
 
Attorney for the Appellant Jeff Kleinman, 1207 SW 6th Avenue Portland, Oregon 97204, stated that their 
argument under the first of the two appeal issues was that “time’s up and time’s been up for a long time” on 
the Applicant’s ability to get the city to approve the requested modification. He stated that the Sherwood 
Village PUD was approved in 1995 and that was the last time that the zoning would have allowed the mini-
warehouse proposal. He stated that in the initial subdivision approval in 2012, they were allowed to proceed 

9



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 7 of 13 

with mini-warehousing not because the code allowed it, but because there was a provision that stated that 
when a PUD went forward to be subdivided, the original provisions previously in effect when the PUD was 
approved could be used. He continued that in 2016, the site plan was approved for the mini-warehouse 
development on the lot and the mini-warehouse was completed and there was nothing to modify. He argued 
that the Applicant should apply for their changes under the current code. Mr. Kleinman stated that in the 
original city orders approving them, both the subdivision and the site plan cited two-year time limits unless 
the city extended them and commented that the record did not show that there was any request for an 
extension. He continued that because of that and because there was nothing left to modify, the current code 
applied. He referred to the 10-year time period cited in the ORS and stated that the timeframe would only 
apply if the city had not set a different time limit, but the city had determined a two-year timeframe from the 
subdivision and site plan. Mr. Kleinman argued that the Planning Commission had misconstrued the statute 
when it relied on ORS 92.040 to approve the application and that those regulations were in effect 27 years 
ago, not 10 years ago. He referred to Exhibit D and stated that when the subdivision was applied for in 2012, 
the existing regulations and Comprehensive Plan would not have allowed mini-warehousing. He stated that 
the Applicant and Planning Commission had “bootstrapped” 1995 regulations and that was not permitted in 
Subsection 2 of ORS 92.040. He continued that Subsection 2 was confined to plan provisions and regulations 
that were in effect at the time of the application in 2012, not at the time of PUD approval in 1995, regardless 
of the city’s code provision. Mr. Kleinman stated that he felt that there had been a dramatic misreading of the 
legislative intent and the language of Subsection 3 of ORS 92.040 and argued that the statute established 
an outside time limit of 10 years regardless of local regulations that provided a longer time limit. He argued 
that the time had long since passed for the Applicant to apply for their modification. He referred to the future 
impacts from the number of storage units compared to the RV storage canopy and asked Council to give 
serious thought as to what was proposed and what Council would allow by approving a modification to which 
it was not entitled. He stated that his letter cited the language from the subdivision and site plan approval 
establishing a two-year time limit and there was nothing in the record that showed that those two years were 
extended. He argued that the case was clear-cut to the extent that there was no ambiguity in the statute and 
the statute favored the reading that he was giving to it as it was the most plain and clear reading. He continued 
that if the legislature had intended more or had intended a “free ride or a golden ticket” it would have said so. 
He referred to his letter and explained that he was able to find one case that addressed the statute and the 
case favored his reading of the statute. He stated that had there been a specific development or proposal 
that was approved in the subdivision approval, then there would be the right to rely on the statute’s 10-year 
period, but that was not the case in this instance. He stated that the application must be denied, and the 
appeal must be sustained. He referred to the rebuttal letter cited in Appeal Issue #2 and stated that he was 
happy to rely on what was already stated in the appeal and in the record. 
 
Record note: Appellant attorney Jeffery Kleinman provided Council with copies of his letter to Council dated 
July 19, 2022 (see record, Exhibit E). 
 
Susan Claus referred to the rebuttal letter cited in Appeal Issue #2 and stated the letter was only uploaded 
to the website several hours prior to the hearing, which staff had stated served as entering the letter into the 
record. She continued that staff had not alerted the Clauses about receiving the rebuttal letter and the 
Clauses had wanted to respond but did not have enough time to do so. She stated that the ORS 
197.797(6)(b) said “new evidence, arguments or testimony” and stated that staff and the Planning 
Commission were saying that only new written evidence applied. She continued that there was also new 
arguments and testimony during the hearing that they had wanted to reply to as well, which was why they 
had requested that the record remain open for seven days. She stated that they believed that they were 
incorrectly denied. 

10



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 8 of 13 

Jim Claus came forward and stated, “most of you haven’t been in the city long enough to know what some 
of us are complaining about, and that this was at the heart of it.” He stated he had taught urban planning and 
he had a PhD in Urban Planning and Regional Development from Berkeley and he had written a thesis that 
was accepted by the Economist at both Berkeley and Stanford. He continued that he had also attended one 
year of law school. He stated that lawyers provided technical matters in the law, and Council had heard a 
very good technical argument that the agreement was breached. He argued that the permits were two-year 
agreements and that that time frame had passed. He stated that it was his understanding that they had paid 
for Langer Farms Parkway and that was why the Sherwood Center for the Arts was what it was and why the 
Cannery Square pollution was not cleaned up. He stated, “we made a decision to take Light Industrial ground 
worth $5 a foot, put in the streets, put in the infrastructure—and Walmart, who was brought here by Joe 
Broadhurst, and we're looking at his and the Elks property and a small piece of ours—and my only condition 
was they had to come to a public hearing…I don't like Walmart they're a category killer and they destroy your 
small business. Look at the downtown—they ruined it.” He continued that, “we rebuilt that hotel, we rebuilt 
most of the downtown and gave it back at cost because there was a central business district…and that's 
what the urban renewal money was supposed to go to…Then…Joe Broadhurst brought in Walmart and 
Walmart went over to Langer’s by Keith Mays…and more than that, we developed a large area with Opus 
and Opus was told go to Langer’s or no place.” He stated that Sherwood was an upper income community 
and had the only national wildlife refuge in the US that was started inside an urban area that did not allow 
hunting. He stated that the wildlife refuge was started because of a lawsuit he and his wife had fought for 
eight and a half years. Mr. Claus stated that the city planners did not analyze the benefit-cost of what the city 
was getting by approving the application, they analyzed whether the Langers could force it through or not. 
He continued that the Langers would not be able to force the application through without Mayor Mays. He 
argued that the right questions were not being asked and what should be asked was what “are we doing 
building this kind of thing and overbuilding the density when we paid for the streets, we paid for the dirt, and 
the schoolchildren in Oregon gave up money?” He continued that that was what Council and city planners 
were here for and commented that city planners were not lawyers. He stated that he had not seen a benefit-
cost analysis or a traffic study which may require more police staffing to offset the increase in traffic. He 
stated that the land Walmart and Home Depot were built on was worth $5 a foot and “they got $15 cash—
that’s $1 million an acre and that was when the town started coming apart.” He stated that people wanted to 
live in Sherwood and Council was supposed to protect that lifestyle and no one was saying “enough’s 
enough.” Mr. Claus referred to the land that the QT Pub had been located on and stated that it was valuable 
land and “you guys forced R-1 housing back-to-back to an interstate.” He stated that this was happening 
because certain people were demanding $15-25 a square foot rent and Mayor Mays allowed it to happen. 
He stated that Council needed to look at the benefit-cost analysis to the city and stated that the application 
would bring more traffic to the area which would put more pedestrians at risk. He commented that because 
of Council’s feelings towards the Langers, he knew Council would approve the application. 
 
Attorney for the Applicant Seth King, 1120 NW Couch Street 10th Floor Portland, Oregon 97209 came forward 
and stated that the Applicant agreed with the staff recommendation and believed that the Appellant had not 
demonstrated that the city had made any errors along the way. He asked that Council deny the appeal and 
affirm the Planning Commission’s decision. He stated that Council should be confident in both the processes 
the Planning Commission followed and the decision they came to. He stated that the Planning Commission 
took a 20 minute recess to review the written testimony that had been submitted prior to the meeting and 
after reconvening they asked staff and the City Attorney a number of questions that showed that they had a 
good grasp on the issues and arguments from both sides and had come to a well-reasoned decision. He 
stated that the Planning Commission’s decision was consistent with past city practices and cited information 
from the staff report that stated that in 2016, the city had relied upon the 10-year vesting provided by the 

11



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 9 of 13 

2012 subdivision and utilized that to approve development on the Langer’s property. Mr. King addressed 
Appeal Issue #1 and stated that their response was that they believed that the Planning Commission had 
correctly interpreted and applied ORS 92.040 in the present case. He read Subsection 2 of ORS 92.040 
aloud and reported that in 2012, the city had approved a subdivision for the Langer’s property. He outlined 
that it was a city decision for a subdivision inside an urban growth boundary and as a result, all of the local 
government laws that were in effect at the time of the 2012 decision would apply unless the Applicant elected 
otherwise. He stated he believed that the 10-year time period applied. He addressed the Appellant’s 
argument that the development agreement had undermined the vesting and that the development agreement 
between the Langers and the city had set out a shorter period of time. He stated that there was nothing in 
the development agreement that appeared to contemplate any sort of future subdivision or that if there was 
a future subdivision that the Applicant would waive the vesting that would otherwise have been available to 
them. He stated that there was no rule that stated that if you had vesting under one provision of law that you 
could not also vest separately under a separate provision of law and commented that that was what was 
occurring here. He addressed Mr. Kleinman’s testimony in which he stated that the 1995 uses were not 
allowed in 2012 so that even if the 2012 subdivision vested the standards in effect at that time, that would 
not include the 1995 uses and stated that he believed Mr. Kleinman had misconstrued the law. Mr. King 
stated that the regulations at the time said that approved PUDs may elect to establish uses which were 
permitted or conditionally permitted under the base zone text at the time of final approval of the PUD. He 
explained that that provision would have been in effect and thus would have been vested at that same time 
and would have allowed the Applicant to use the 1995 standards in 2012. He addressed the time period for 
the vesting and stated that he agreed with Mr. Kleinman’s assertion that if the city had not stipulated any 
other time period, then the 10-year time period would apply and commented that the city had not stated any 
other time period. He addressed Mr. Kleinman’s argument that the 2012 tentative subdivision approval had 
a two-year time frame which would establish a two-year time period that the standards would be in effect and 
stated that he did not believe that that was a persuasive position because that would not be consistent with 
the intent of the statute. He stated that the statute said that once the final subdivision was in place and 
recorded, there was a particular period of time in which you could rely upon the standards that were in effect 
when you first applied, but that time period had to include a time when the final subdivision was in place. He 
stated that Mr. Kleinman was referring to a tentative subdivision decision, not a final subdivision decision. He 
addressed Mr. Kleinman’s argument that the site plan also had a two-year time period and stated he believed 
this to be irrelevant as ORS 92.040 only concerned subdivision approvals, not site plan approvals. Mr. King 
addressed Appeal Issue #2 and stated that the Planning Commission was correct in not re-opening the 
record to allow response to the rebuttal letter dated May 10th because the letter did not include any new 
evidence as he was only responding directly to the commentary made by the Appellants. He continued that 
all of the statements were legal arguments and reference to facts that were already in the record and referred 
to ORS 197.797(6)(b) and stated that “evidence” was considered to be facts and information, not legal 
argument. He stated that the definition of “evidence” also referred to documents and commented that that 
did not turn a written letter that was otherwise argument into evidence. He stated that the “point is not the 
form that it takes, the point is the substance of it.” He referred to the 2016 LUBA case Talbot v. City of Happy 
Valley that found that statements that were in a letter that said that state law limited the applicability of certain 
local standards did not constitute new evidence that required the city to provide a rebuttal opportunity and 
stated that the city was not required to reopen the record. Mr. King referred to the testimony Mr. Claus had 
provided at this hearing and stated that Mr. Claus’s comments regarding Langer Farms Parkway, Walmart, 
Mayor Mays, and the wildlife refuge were not within the scope of the appeal and should not be taken into 
consideration when Council made their decision. 
 

12



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 10 of 13 

Mr. Kleinman argued that past city practices or past interpretations of a statute were not relevant and were 
not controlling when a legal issue was raised under a state statute in a current case. He stated that Mr. King 
was incorrect in stating that he and Mr. King agreed that in the absence of a specified timeframe in the city 
regulations or in a prior city order, that the statute provided a “gift” of 10 years and stated that the statute did 
not say that. He continued that someone did not get 10 years just because the city was silent on the issue at 
a particular point in time. He spoke on the effect of the 2016 site plan and the passage of two years since it 
had been approved and stated that this was an application to modify the site plan, and that approval had 
expired two years ago. He continued that the Applicant now wanted to do something else on the site that 
was much more intense and much more traffic intensive and was asking to modify the 2016 site plan to do 
so. Mr. Kleinman stated that the Applicant now wanted to do something different from what they had applied 
for, built, and benefitted from in 2016 and argued that a new application was necessary under the current 
regulations as there was nothing left to modify. He stated that by applying for a modification, he felt that the 
Applicant was trying to “slip one by” the city and they were not entitled to do so. He stated that the appeal 
was well grounded, and the application should be denied.  
 
Mr. Claus came forward and stated that he had read both of the legal analyses and stated that there was no 
question that this was “marginal on every corner.” He continued that when it was marginal on every corner, 
you had to determine if you were going to allow for an exception. He stated that there was a decision to 
make, and asked what the community would get out of this and was there any reason to give this kind of 
benefit to non-residents that had “already picked up off of urban renewal between $30-50 million?” He asked 
why Council would allow someone to go back and “redo a piece” when it had already been completed and 
ask themselves “why would I give them a use that they went in and asked to be made illegal?” Mr. Claus 
argued that Mr. Kleinman had shown that there were flaws in their arguments and had provided LUBA 
citations. He stated that it was Council’s job to protect Sherwood residents in a “benefit-cost sense” even 
from its own planners and that it was their job to protect their citizens as they would want to be protected. He 
stated that he did not see what need there was for this project and commented that “we gave in the flats to 
the Fish and Wildlife larger land than the Langers own and that was one of many pieces we gave away and 
I’m very happy we did…you have to look at how you can protect this community because your police do, 
everybody else does.” 
 
Mr. King came forward and apologized for his misunderstanding of Mr. Kleinman’s argument regarding the 
time period and replied that he did not understand how any other conclusion could be reached under the 
statute. He read the statute aloud and stated that the city had not taken any action to establish a time period 
that was less than that either by ordinance or something specific to this case and that the 10-year time period 
cited in the statute applied. He referred to Mr. Kleinman’s site plan argument and stated that Mr. Kleinman 
misunderstood. He explained that the Applicant was not modifying the application, they were submitting a 
new application which was called a modification and was a specific type of application that the city had which 
allowed an applicant with an existing approval to come back and seek a modification. He continued that it 
was not relevant that the two-year implementing period for the site plan had passed, it was now that there 
was a brand new application that they were seeking to modify. He referred to Mr. Kleinman’s argument 
regarding the LUBA decision related to ORS 92.040 and stated that he read that decision differently than the 
Appellant. He continued that he believed that LUBA said that even if a local government was not approving 
specific development at the time that the subdivision was approved, if the local government was still 
approving lot size and configuration that was premised upon a particular type or location of future 
development, then the local government is precluded under ORS 92.040(2) from applying different or 
conflicting standards to that development during the vesting period. He provided details on the LUBA case. 
He stated that he believed that the Appellants had not demonstrated that the Planning Commission had 

13



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 11 of 13 

committed any error and the appropriate outcome was for City Council to affirm the Planning Commission’s 
decision.  
 
Associate Planner Eric Rutledge came forward to provide his final comments. He reminded Council that they 
were not permitted to take any new evidence from this hearing into consideration when making their decision. 
He stated that the major modification process was the correct process and explained that there was a clear 
process in the code to modify a previously approved site plan, which was what the Applicant had done. He 
stated that the big question was whether the state statute automatically allowed for a 10-year period or not 
and asked City Attorney Soper for his opinion on the matter. Mr. Soper stated he agreed that the key issue 
was whether that default was a 10-year period. He commented that section was not as clear as it should be 
but that he did not think that there was any other way to read the statute without defeating the purpose of the 
statute. He explained that there had to be some sort of time period and the statute clearly said it was a 
maximum of 10 years. He asked that if it was not an automatic 10 years, what time period is it? He continued 
that the rest of the statute would be rendered meaningless if the 10-year period did not apply. Councilor Scott 
asked Associate Planner Rutledge for clarification on if this was not a modification to the original site plan 
but was a modification to the site itself. Mr. Rutledge replied that there was a 2016 site plan approval after 
which everything that was on the site now was constructed, and now there was a new application. He 
explained that the code had a clear process for an applicant or property owner to modify a previously 
approved site plan and included the stipulation that anything the applicant was touching on the site had to 
come into compliance with the current code. He explained that this modification included a trip generation 
report that indicated how many trips would result from this specific modification. Councilor Scott asked why 
some new standards were applicable in a modification but not others? Mr. Rutledge replied that it came down 
to the language of “unless the applicant elects otherwise” and asked City Attorney Soper for his input. Mr. 
Soper explained that the new standards that were applied were only more burdensome on the Applicant than 
they would have been otherwise, so the Applicant went through “additional hoops” as a result of the new 
standards that they would not have had to under the old code. He explained that the Applicant could have 
objected to doing so, but they did not. Councilor Scott asked how long could someone modify a site plan? 
Mr. Soper replied that it was a nomenclature issue and explained that once you had an approved site plan 
and you wanted to do something different, it was called a site plan modification. Mr. Rutledge added that 
whatever the city decided to call it, the requested modifications were reviewed and brought up to the current 
standards. City Attorney Soper remarked that the question of site plan modification and whether the site plan 
had expired was not raised at the Planning Commission and was not one of the issues on the appeal, so it 
was not relevant to this discussion. Councilor Young referred to Ms. Claus’s comments on ORS 
197.797(6)(b) and commented that the statute referenced arguments and asked for clarification from City 
Attorney Soper. Mr. Soper replied that the section that was relevant for this hearing was when the record 
needed to remain open for rebuttal. Associate Planner Rutledge read the statute aloud and explained that at 
the Planning Commission hearing, they had provided the opportunity for the Appellant to provide oral 
testimony which satisfied the requirements within the statute. He continued that the reference in the statute 
to requesting a record be left open for at least seven days was a separate sentence than the sentence that 
referred to additional arguments. He explained that people were provided the opportunity to provide 
testimony at the continued hearing and if someone then showed up and provided new written evidence at 
the continued hearing and someone then requested to respond to that, then the Commission should leave 
the record open. Councilor Young asked that someone could have presented new evidence, but nobody did? 
Mr. Rutledge replied that that was what the Planning Commission had found. Councilor Giles confirmed that 
it was the city’s legal counsels’ opinion that what was submitted at the hearing was argument, not evidence? 
Mr. Soper replied that was correct. Councilors Young, Scott, and Giles commented that they had read the 

14



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 12 of 13 

comments and had viewed them as argument not evidence. Hearing no other discussion or questions, 
Council President Rosener closed the public hearing and asked for comments and deliberation from Council.  
 
Councilor Giles commented that he had lived in Sherwood for 18 years and he did not believe he had ever 
met the Langers and stated that reviewing the criteria of the application was what Council should be basing 
their answers on. Council President Rosener stated he agreed, and that Council’s role was to evaluate the 
application based on the evidence presented by the Planning Commission and the applicable ORS and 
Sherwood code. Councilor Scott commented that this was an interesting hearing for him and stated that he 
felt that he had been very open minded. He continued that all of his questions had been answered very 
clearly and he felt that the Planning Commission had done their job appropriately and suggested that Council 
affirm the Planning Commission’s decision based on the evidence presented at this meeting. Councilor 
Garland stated he agreed and commented he also agreed with the comments regarding the lack of clarity in 
the code but that was a task for another day. He continued that Council had to decide based on the way the 
code was currently written as decided on by the Planning Commission and decide based on that. He stated 
that based on this hearing he was willing to let the Planning Commission’s decision stand. Councilor Young 
stated she agreed and that she had listened to all of the evidence and the testimony and said that the city 
had planners and attorneys that had reviewed the materials and she was ready to make a motion. Councilor 
Giles stated that he felt that the Planning Commission had been extremely deliberate in their decision making 
in trying to be as careful as possible and had come to a decision that was defensible and stated he was in 
favor of confirming the Planning Commission’s decision. He continued that based on tonight’s appeal, he 
had not heard anything that had showed him that a mistake was made, or something was done 
inappropriately or because of bias. Council President Rosener stated that the city had an amazing Planning 
Commission and were backed up by staff and the City Attorney to review these types of issues. He continued 
that he agreed with Councilor Scott and had concluded that Council should affirm the Planning Commission’s 
decision because he did not see anything that would warrant Council to override their decision. With no other 
Council comments, the following motion was stated: 
 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR SCOTT THAT THE CITY COUNCIL TENTATIVELY AFFIRM THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION AND APPROVE THE APPLICATION BASED ON THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION FINDINGS REPORT DATED MAY 11, 2022. ADDITIONALLY, MOVE THAT THE CITY 
COUNCIL SHOULD AUTHORIZE THE COUNCIL PRESIDENT TO SIGN A NOTICE OF DECISION 
INCLUDING WRITTEN FINDINGS CONSISTENT WITH THE COUNCIL’S TENTATIVE DECISION ON OR 
BEFORE AUGUST 4, 2022. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR YOUNG. MOTION PASSED 5:0, ALL 
PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (MAYOR MAYS RECUSED AND COUNCILOR BROUSE WAS 
ABSENT). 
 
Council President Rosener addressed the next agenda item.  
 

8. CITY MANAGER REPORT: 
 

City Manager Keith Campbell reported that he and his family attended the Robin Hood Festival and thanked 
Public Works staff for their work during the Festival. He announced that today was City Attorney Josh Soper’s 
last day working with Council and he wished Mr. Soper well and thanked him for his service to the Sherwood 
community.  

 
Council President Rosener addressed the next agenda item.  
 

15



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
July 19, 2022 
Page 13 of 13 

9. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 
Councilor Scott reported that there was no Parks and Recreation Advisory Board meeting in July and they 
would meet in August. He stated that he was grateful to have the Robin Hood Festival back after its hiatus 
due to the pandemic.  
 
Councilor Young stated that she was grateful to have the Robin Hood Festival back. She thanked Mr. Soper 
for his years of service to the city and wished him well. 
 
Councilor Giles thanked City Attorney Soper for his service to the city. He reported on a recent Planning 
Commission meeting and commented on ongoing construction on Oregon Street. He thanked the members 
of the Planning Commission and all city boards for their service.  
 
Councilor Garland thanked City Attorney Soper for his work and commented he had enjoyed working with 
him. He reported that the Sherwood Foundation for the Arts’ production “Cinderella” would open the following 
weekend. He referred to Casey Chen’s reappointment as a Cultural Arts Commission member and he 
thanked her for her work serving on the Cultural Arts Commission. He thanked the volunteers of all city 
boards and commission for their work. 
 
Mayor Mays thanked the Robin Hood Festival Association and city staff for their work over the weekend. He 
thanked City Attorney Soper for his work for the city over the years. 
 
Council President Rosener thanked City Attorney Soper for his years of service to the city. He reported that 
he would attend the National League of Cities meeting in Atlanta. 

 
10. ADJOURN: 
 

Council President Rosener adjourned the regular session at 9:32 pm. 
 

 
 

Attest: 
 
              
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder    Keith Mays, Mayor 

 

 

16



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
August 2, 2022 
Page 1 of 6 

 
 

SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
22560 SW Pine St., Sherwood, Or 

August 2, 2022 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER: The executive session was called to order at 6:05 pm. 
 
2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Mayor Keith Mays, Councilors Renee Brouse, Doug Scott, and Taylor Giles. Council 

President Tim Rosener and Councilor Sean Garland participated remotely. Councilor Kim Young was absent. 
 
3. STAFF PRESENT: Legal Counsel Steven Schuback, Interim City Attorney Alan Rappleyea, City Manager 

Keith D. Campbell, Public Works Director Craig Sheldon, HR Manager Rebecca Tabra, and Police Chief Ty 
Hanlon. 

 
4. TOPICS: 

 
A. ORS 192.660(2)(d) Labor Negotiation Consultation 

 
5. ADJOURNED: 
 

The executive session was adjourned at 7:20 pm and a regular session was convened. 
 
REGULAR SESSION 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Mays called the meeting to order at 7:30 pm. 
 
2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Mayor Keith Mays, Councilors Doug Scott, Renee Brouse, and Taylor Giles. Council 

President Tim Rosener and Councilor Sean Garland participated remotely and Councilor Kim Young was 
absent. 
 

3. STAFF PRESENT: City Manager Keith D. Campbell, System Administrator Mark Swanson, Public Works 
Director Craig Sheldon, Community Services Director Kristen Switzer, Planning Manager Erika Palmer, 
Police Chief Ty Hanlon, Interim City Attorney Alan Rappleyea, Finance Director David Bodway, and City 
Recorder Sylvia Murphy. 

 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR BROUSE TO APPROVE THE AGENDA. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR 
GILES. MOTION PASSED 6:0, ALL PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR YOUNG 
WAS ABSENT). 
 

17



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
August 2, 2022 
Page 2 of 6 

5. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A. Approval of July 14, 2022 City Council Meeting Minutes 
B. Resolution 2022-061, Reappointing Brian Fairbanks to the Sherwood Budget Committee  
C. Resolution 2022-062, Authorizing the City Manager to Sign a Service Order with 8x8 for Telephony 

Services 
D. Resolution 2022-063, Recommending Legislative Priorities to League of Oregon Cities for the 

2023 Legislative Session 
 

MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR BROUSE TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA. SECONDED BY 
COUNCILOR SCOTT. MOTION PASSED 6:0, ALL PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR 
(COUNCILOR YOUNG WAS ABSENT). 

 
Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item. 

 
6. CITIZEN COMMENTS: 

 
Sherwood resident Jim Claus came forward to address Council and stated that he was providing comment 
in an effort to exhaust administrative rights and reaching finality because it appeared to him that he would be 
in litigation with the city. He referred to the July 19, 2022 City Council meeting land use hearing and stated 
that it was not Council’s job to be fair, it was Council’s job to apply the law consistently. Mr. Claus stated that 
that was what attorneys took advantage of and, “what you’re talking about is the latter part of the fifth 
amendment and the 14th amendment.” He explained that Oregon was a statutory state, and that he was 
informing Council and the city that he was ill and elderly and cautioned Council against agitating him because 
he would be asking for triple damages and attorney’s fees. He continued that he would not confuse a civil 
right with a property right and referred to the fees charged to appeal a land use hearing. Mr. Claus stated 
that the litigation he was aiming for was similar to Dolan v. City of Tigard or Nollan v. California Coastal 
Commission and that they would be asking for federal protection. He explained that they were doing so 
because they were not being given an alternative and stated that they had state and county documents 
authenticating the “falseness of some of those statements.” He stated that he was previously involved in an 
eight and a half year suit against the Bureau of Reclamation and had won. Mr. Claus stated that he had seen 
incredible urban deterioration in Sherwood and that it should never have occurred. He continued that, “you 
give away millions in public funds to named individuals to change the morphology of this city and to drive 
citizens out that object.”  
  
Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item and the City Recorder read aloud the public hearings 
statement. 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

A. Resolution 2022-064, Updating the City of Sherwood Water System Development Charges 
Methodology and amending the Fee Schedule 
 

Finance Director David Bodway explained that Deb Galardi with Galardi Rothstein Group was hired to 
perform an analysis of the city’s water system, estimate future water requirements, identify any deficiencies, 
and evaluate the city’s existing water rates and SDCs (system development charges). He recapped that 
Council had held two previous work sessions on the topic and explained that the city had provided the 
required 90-day notices per ORS 223.304 and a draft report was published on the city’s website in early June 
2022. Consultant Deb Galardi presented the “Water SDC Methodology Public Hearing” PowerPoint 

18



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
August 2, 2022 
Page 3 of 6 

presentation (see record, Exhibit A) and explained that the update to the water SDCs were comprised of 
three components. The first component was the project list and was the master plan list of capital 
improvement projects (CIP). She explained that per state law, the project list was required to show the project 
description, cost, and timing as well as the percent eligible for improvement SDC funding. She explained that 
the SDC methodology was the framework for determining the growth costs in the water system and was the 
basis for charging different development types. She continued that when that framework was applied to the 
project list, the SDC schedule was created. Ms. Galardi explained that Oregon law allowed cities to include 
existing facility costs as well as CIPs and the existing facilities component was referred to as the 
“reimbursement fee.” She outlined that facility costs that were funded by the city could be included but only 
to the extent that there was existing capacity in those facilities’ future growth. She reported that most facilities 
had between 0-70% available capacity for growth and commented that those respective amounts were 
included in the charges. She explained that future improvements were based on the city’s adopted master 
plans and included the costs related to the increased capacity for growth and were determined on a facility-
by-facility basis. She continued that capacity analysis in the future improvements were related to the system 
design criteria and what was needed specifically for growth. Ms. Galardi addressed compliance costs and 
stated that compliance costs included the cost of the SDC methodology development, a portion of the master 
planning that went into developing the project list, and the accounting costs incurred by the city and explained 
that the state statutes permitted SDC revenue to be spent on the costs of complying with the statutes. She 
provided an overview of the updated SDCs and reported that the updated SDC per equivalent dwelling unit 
(EDU) was $8,836 and was a 35% increase from the current SDC. She reported that the main reason for the 
increase was because the methodology was modified to base the reimbursement fees on the estimated 
replacement costs and included the increase in value over time as estimated by the increases in the 
Construction Cost Index. She outlined that the project improvement costs had also been updated to include 
new projects that had been added to the master plans and included land costs for pump stations and 
additional contingency for pipe projects due to the increases in material costs. Ms. Galardi addressed the 
growth improvement costs and reported that they totaled $63 million over the full planning period and were 
primarily supply, transmission and distribution costs with some minor costs for storage upgrades and new 
pump stations. She explained that a number of the improvements were 100% SDC eligible and growth related 
because they were extending or adding the next increment of capacity in the system. She provided an 
overview of the SDCs of neighboring cities and reported that most other regional utilities charged between 
$8,000-10,000 per EDU. Ms. Galardi explained that the SDC methodology included a scaling factor for 
developments for their additional capacity needs based on the water meter size, as water meter size was an 
indicator of the hydraulic capacity required to serve the development. She explained that in the future, the 
city could update the project list and SDC schedule separate from the changes to the methodology and future 
inflationary adjustments could be made to the SDC schedule annually. Council President Rosener explained 
what SDCs were. Councilor Giles asked if the $8,000 figure was per EDU? Ms. Galardi replied that was 
correct and explained that the SDC would scale up based on the size of the water meter and most residential 
dwellings were served by the smallest meter size. Discussion regarding SDC charges for a multifamily 
dwelling unit occurred and Ms. Galardi explained that EDUs were based on the meter size, not the number 
of dwelling units. Council President Rosener commented that many agencies were now requiring sprinklers 
in multifamily units and the addition of a sprinkler system required a bigger meter in order to handle that 
capacity, and asked if they were looking into how to address SDCs in those circumstances? Ms. Galardi 
replied that it was quite common to have a policy that explicitly stated that you would be charged for the lower 
meter size if you were upsizing to the next meter size for a fire sprinkler system because it was for emergency 
purposes and SDCs were related to the maximum daily water demand. Mayor Mays opened up the public 
hearing and asked for public comment on the proposed resolution. 
 
Sherwood resident Jim Claus came forward and stated that water was about 325 gallons an acre-foot and 
Sherwood received 48 inches of rain, and that nearly all residentially used water, particularly in apartments, 

19



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
August 2, 2022 
Page 4 of 6 

was recirculated back into the system. He commented that Bull Run now paid for the police department and 
stated that it was a regressive tax because it fell on the least able to pay it. He explained that the city was 
creating a system that “isn’t recirculating…it appears you’re destroying the water table with this new mess 
industrial center in the US Fish and Wildlife refuge.” Mr. Claus stated that they had taken a village that could 
have been self-sufficient in water and had “ballooned it up” calling it the “costs of water.” He stated that they 
could have segregated out the retail commercial areas from residential, and the city could have had point 
source control which would have allowed for the water to be reused over and over. He stated that the city 
did not get an appropriative water right and had passed up opportunities to not increase costs. He stated that 
the city was not getting the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife to preserve Sherwood’s water table and 
referred to the option of using wells instead. He stated that water was the next tax and would be the next 
thing to force people out of town. He stated that the city had a great system that they had abandoned and in 
time it would be regretted. He referred to projects on 124th Avenue and stated that that was why Sherwood 
was deteriorating and why “you’re forcing your most generous citizen in your history to litigate with you 
because you keep picking fights on false premises and I’ve had enough.” 
 
Mayor Mays asked for other public comments on the proposed resolution. Hearing none, Mayor Mays closed 
the public hearing portion of the meeting and asked for discussion or a motion from Council.  
 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR BROUSE TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2022-064, UPDATING THE CITY OF 
SHERWOOD WATER SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGES METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE 
FEE SCHEDULE. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR SCOTT. MOTION PASSED 6:0, ALL PRESENT 
MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR YOUNG WAS ABSENT). 

 
B. Resolution 2022-065, Updating the City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge 

Methodology and amending the Fee Schedule 
 
Planning Manager Erika Palmer outlined that the proposed resolution would update the city’s Parks SDC 
methodology and amend the fee schedule. She recapped that Council had held two previous work sessions 
on the topic and explained that the city had provided the required 90-day notices per state statutes and 
introduced consultant John Ghilarducci with FCS Group. Mr. Ghilarducci presented the “Parks SDC Analysis” 
PowerPoint presentation (see record, Exhibit B) and provided an overview of the key characteristics of SDCs 
and how SDCs were calculated. He explained that Parks SDCs were made up entirely of an improvement 
fee because there was not quantifiable unused capacity in the existing Parks system. He provided an 
overview of Sherwood’s current Parks SDCs on page 6 of the presentation and reported that a single-family 
dwelling’s total fees were $8,998.93, a multifamily dwelling fee was $6,753.92, a manufactured home fee 
was $9,867.24, and non-residential fees were $93.57. He explained that non-residential/commercial 
establishment fees were charged per employee and were based on the square footage of the type of building 
that was being constructed. Mr. Ghilarducci stated that Sherwood’s total cost basis of the eligible portion was 
$68 million and was calculated based on the city’s project list that totaled roughly $125 million. He continued 
that the $68 million figure was then divided by 12,958 Residential Equivalents and totaled an SDC per 
Resident Equivalent of $5,249. He explained that the SDC per Residential Equivalents were converted into 
charges per dwelling unit by the average occupancy based on the latest census information. He outlined that 
the new calculated Parks SDCs were: $14,997 for a single-family dwelling unit, $9,310 for a multifamily 
dwelling unit, $9,622 for a manufactured home, $5,249 for an accessory dwelling unit, and $573 was the per-
employee rate. Mr. Ghilarducci referred to the table on page 8 of the presentation and explained that the 
table had been updated to reflect the new rates from Tualatin Hills RPD’s June 2022 SDC update. He 
addressed Parks SDC phasing options and reported that one option was to do a two-step phased-in 
approach in order to ease the impact of the SDC rate change and explained that the first period would begin 
on January 1, 2023 and the second phase would begin on July 1, 2023. He stated that he recommended 

20



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
August 2, 2022 
Page 5 of 6 

that the city index the charges with cost escalation in order to keep up with inflation. Mr. Ghilarducci provided 
an overview of the funding plan and recapped that of the $125 million of capital improvement projects, only 
$68 million was eligible via SDCs and commented that other funding would still be needed in order to make 
up the difference. He recapped next steps and explained Council’s options. Councilor Scott referred to the 
phased-in approach and asked if the date that it was applicable was based on the application date or the 
building permit issuance date or what relevant date? Mr. Ghilarducci replied that it was the date that the city 
made it effective… Councilor Scott interrupted and asked what date would trigger the SDC? Planning 
Manager Palmer replied that it was triggered based on the time of building permit.  

 
Mayor Mays opened up the public hearing and asked for public comment on the proposed resolution. Hearing 
none, Mayor Mays closed the public hearing and asked for discussion or a motion from Council. 

 
Councilor Scott explained that the $125 million was based on the Parks Master Plan project list and that it 
did not necessarily mean that there would be $125 million in parks development. He explained that it was a 
recognition that there was a plan in place and there were funding mechanisms to help fund some of those 
projects over the next 10-20 years. Mayor Mays added that nearly every park in Sherwood was paid for by 
SDCs. Councilor Scott stated he was in favor the resolution in order to continue to support Sherwood parks 
and commented that he was unsure if a phased-in approach was necessary. Mayor Mays asked if the 
proposed resolution indicated that it would be a phased-in approach and would have automatic indexing? 
Planning Manager Palmer replied that was correct. Mayor Mays asked if it was possible to have Council 
remove the phasing when adopting the resolution by making an amendment? He commented that in the past 
Park SDCs had utilized phasing, but not every time. Councilor Giles commented that he had heard from 
residents that they were willing to pay more for a house in Sherwood because of the city’s parks, trails, and 
amenities and commented that he was not in favor of phasing in, but he was open to either way. Council 
President Rosener stated that he was likely not in favor of phasing and commented that there was discussion 
occurring at the state legislative level about how cities collected fees. He explained that SDCs went into a 
separate fund and the city was not permitted to move the funds around to be spent elsewhere. He commented 
that Sherwood had great parks and amenities and had developed the parks at lower rates than other 
communities. Councilor Garland commented that he supported the resolution. Councilor Brouse commented 
that she was in favor of the phased-in approach. Mayor Mays asked for Councilor Garland’s thoughts on 
phasing. Councilor Garland replied that he did not feel strongly either way, but he supported implementing 
the SDCs simultaneously. Councilor Scott commented that he supported implementing the SDCs 
simultaneously because he wished to secure as much capital as possible. Councilor Giles asked if 
implementing the SDC rate change simultaneously had the potential to “stall out” projects? Council President 
Rosener replied that projects that were already underway were protected. Mayor Mays added that anything 
was possible, but he felt that the development community was smart and that they would initiate activities 
before the fees changed. Councilor Giles commented that he was in favor of implementing the SDCs 
simultaneously. 
 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR SCOTT TO AMEND RESOLUTION 2022-065, UPDATING THE CITY OF 
SHERWOOD PARKS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGE METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE FEE 
SCHEDULE TO BRING THE ENTIRE CHANGE INTO EFFECT AS OF JANUARY 1, 2023. SECONDED 
BY COUNCILOR GILES. MOTION PASSED 5:1, MAYOR MAYS, COUNCIL PRESIDENT ROSENER, 
COUNCILORS SCOTT, GARLAND, AND GILES VOTED IN FAVOR, COUNCILOR BROUSE WAS 
OPPOSED. COUNCILOR YOUNG WAS ABSENT.  

 
MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR GILES TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2022-065, UPDATING THE CITY OF 
SHERWOOD PARKS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CHARGE METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE FEE 
SCHEDULE AS AMENDED. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR SCOTT. MOTION PASSED 5:1, MAYOR 

21



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes  
August 2, 2022 
Page 6 of 6 

MAYS, COUNCIL PRESIDENT ROSENER, COUNCILORS SCOTT, GARLAND, AND GILES VOTED IN 
FAVOR, COUNCILOR BROUSE WAS OPPOSED. COUNCILOR YOUNG WAS ABSENT. 
 
Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item.  
 

8. CITY MANAGER REPORT: 
 

City Manager Keith Campbell reported that the last Music on the Green concert would be August 3rd and 
Movies in the Park would begin on August 8th. He reported that a second round for CEP applications had 
been opened and applications were being accepted through September 15th.  

 
Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item.  
 

9. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 
Councilor Garland reported that Pride Disposal had launched a plastic clamshell container recycling program 
in July and stated that more information on the program could be found on their website. He advised people 
to stay safe during the heatwave. 
 
Council President Rosener reported he had attended the National League of Cities conference in Atlanta 
where they worked on updating the NLC’s policy direction. He reported that he had been appointed to the 
Oregon Broadband Advisory Council by the Governor’s office. He reported he attended the WCCC meeting 
in Mayor Mays’s place where they discussed tolling. 
 
Councilor Scott reported that household batteries were also recyclable with Pride Disposal.  
 
Councilor Giles reported he attended the Planning Commission meeting where they were presented with 
information about a new multifamily unit being constructed off of Sherwood Boulevard and shared his 
enthusiasm about people attending the meeting and participating in the process.  
 
Mayor Mays referred to a notice that had gone out the previous weekend regarding water and clarified that 
there was no risk of Sherwood being short on water as a community. He explained that it had to do with when 
the replacement pump was installed and that the notice was asking residents to voluntarily conserve water 
by not doing unnecessary water-heavy activities like washing your car. He spoke on free speech and 
explained that people were free to provide testimony or citizen comment and Council listened and responded 
when they felt there was a relevant response to a topic. He reported that the city offered several cooling 
centers for those who may need it during the summer months.  

 
10. ADJOURN: 
 

Mayor Mays adjourned the regular session at 8:35 pm. 
 
 

Attest: 
 
              
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder    Keith Mays, Mayor 

22



DRAFT 

City Council Minutes 
August 10, 2022 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 

SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
22560 SW Pine St., Sherwood, Or 

August 10, 2022 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER: The executive session was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Council President Tim Rosener, Councilors Kim Young, Doug Scott, Renee Brouse, 

and Taylor Giles. Mayor Keith Mays and Councilor Garland participated remotely. 
 

Note: Councilor Brouse left the meeting at 6:45 pm.  
 

3. STAFF PRESENT: City Manager Keith Campbell, Police Chief Ty Hanlon, HR Manager Rebecca, Public 
Works Director Craig Sheldon, Labor Attorney Steve Schuback, and Interim City Attorney Alan Rappleyea. 
 

4. TOPICS 
 
A. ORS 192.660(2)(d) Labor Negotiator Consultations 
  

5. ADJOURN: 
 
The executive session was adjourned at 8:00 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attest: 
 
              
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder    Keith Mays, Mayor 

23



Resolution 2022-066, Staff Report 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1 

City Council Meeting Date: August 16, 2022 
 

Agenda Item: Consent Agenda 
 
 

TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM: David Bodway, Finance Director 
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-066, Reappointing Kady Strode to the Sherwood Budget Committee 
 
 
Issue: 
Shall the City Council reappoint Kady Strode to the Sherwood Budget Committee? 
 
Background: 
A vacancy exists in Position 6 on the Sherwood Budget Committee. Kady Strode’s term expired on June 
30, 2022. The Mayor has recommended this reappointment to Council. In accordance with City Council 
Rules of Procedure, all such appointments are subject to the approval of City Council by resolution. 
 
Note: Position numbers were established with the adoption of Resolution 2019-066 for the purpose of 
managing terms. 
 
Financial Impacts: 
There are no additional financial impacts as a result of approval of this resolution. 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff respectfully recommends City Council approval of Resolution 2022-066, reappointing Kady Strode to 
the Sherwood Budget Committee. 
 
 

24



DRAFT 

Resolution 2022-066 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2022-066 

 
REAPPOINTING KADY STRODE TO THE SHERWOOD BUDGET COMMITTEE 

 
WHEREAS, a vacancy exists within Position 6 on the Sherwood Budget Committee; and 
 
WHEREAS, Kady Strode’s term expired on June 30, 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor has recommended to Council that Kady Strode be reappointed; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with Council Rules of Procedure, all such appointments are subject to the 
approval of the City Council by resolution. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Sherwood City Council hereby reappoints Kady Strode to Position 6 of the Sherwood 

Budget Committee for a term expiring at the end of June 2025. 
 
Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.  
 
Duly passed by the City Council this 16th of August, 2022. 
 
 
              
        Keith Mays, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder 

25



Resolution 2022-067, Staff Report 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1 
 
 

City Council Meeting Date: August 16, 2022  
 

Agenda Item: Consent Agenda 
 
 

TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM: Craig Sheldon, Public Works Director 
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager, David Bodway Finance Director and Alan 

Rappleyea, Interim City Attorney 
   
SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-067, Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract 

with Total Range Solutions to renovate the Police Department’s indoor firing 
range 

 
 
Issue: 
Shall the City Council authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with Total Range 
Solutions for the renovation of the Police Department’s indoor firing range? 
 
Background: 
 
The Police Department’s indoor firing range has been in use since 2005 and is showing significant 
signs of wear and tear. The range needs a new bullet trap and safety baffle to ensure that bullets 
do not penetrate the back wall of the range.  In addition, the Police Department’s training practices 
have changed over the years which has created a need for further renovation. 
 
In early 2022, the Public Works Department contacted two General Services Administration 
accredited companies that offer this specialty product.   A   bid was received from Action Target, 
however they were unable to provide exactly what was needed.  The current quote from Total 
Range Solutions was received on July 28, 2022.  
 
This work will consist of demoing the old system and installation of a new indoor granular bullet 
trap system and safety baffles to ensure bullets do not penetrate the back wall of the firing range. 
 
This Resolution would authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract for renovation services 
for a total amount not to exceed $208,402.52.  
 
Financial Impacts: 
Included in the FY 2022-2023 budget was $65,000 for this project. The potential additional financial 
impact associated with this project is $143,403.     
 
Recommendation: 
Staff respectfully recommends City Council approval of Resolution 2022-067, Authorizing the City 
Manager to enter into a contract with Total Range Solutions for the renovation of the Police 
Department’s indoor firing range. 

26



DRAFT 

Resolution 2022-067 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2022-067 

 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH TOTAL RANGE 

SOLUTIONS TO RENOVATE THE POLICE DEPARTMENT’S INDOOR FIRING RANGE 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Sherwood’s Police Department indoor firing range has been in use since 2005 and 
is showing signs of significant wear and tear and in is need of renovation; and 
 
WHEREAS, necessary improvements have been identified that will enhance the safety of the range and 
its users; and 
 
WHEAREAS, the technical nature of the renovation and construction of the firing range requires a 
contractor with specific experience and knowledge; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has used a bid process for General Services Administration accredited companies to 
seek renovation services; and 
 
WHEREAS, Total Range Solutions has been identified by staff to be the qualified contractor. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a contract with Total Range Solutions 

in the amount of $189,456.84 with a contingency in the amount of 10% ($18,945.68) to 
cover any quantity changes or unforeseen costs, not to exceed $208,402.52.  

 
Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.  
 
 
 
        ______________________ 
        Keith Mays, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder 

27



Resolution 2022-068, Staff Report 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1 
 

City Council Meeting Date: August 16, 2022 
 

Agenda Item: New Business 
 
 

TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM: Ty Hanlon, Police Chief  
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager and Alan Rappleyea, Interim City Attorney 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-068, Authorizing Workback Policy for Sherwood Police Department 
 
 
Issue: 
Should the City Council approve a workback policy for the Sherwood Police Department? 
 
Background: 
The Sherwood Police Department participates in Oregon PERS; in 2019, the Oregon Legislation adopted 
Senate Bill 1049. This bill allows for employers to hire personnel who have retired in PERS to workback 
up to full time without PERS penalty.  
 
Hiring and retention have become the number one priority for law enforcement in the state and across the 
nation. The bill allows employers to help retain qualified and experiences law enforcement personnel for a 
limited duration.  
 
The Bill is set to expire December 31, 2024. 
 
Allowing police personnel to participate in the program will help keep adequate staffing levels while we 
continue to hire and fill open and expected vacancies.  
 
The workback program has been presented and discussed in a work session with city council.  
 
Financial Impact: 
The City will save the employee’s 6% PERS contribution that is currently paid by the City. 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff respectfully recommends adoption of Resolution 2022-068, Authorizing Workback Policy for the 
Sherwood Police Department. 
 

28



DRAFT 

Resolution 2022-068 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1, with Exhibit A (2 pgs) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2022-068 

 
AUTHORIZING WORKBACK POLICY FOR SHERWOOD POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
WHEREAS, the City has a need to implement a PERS Retiree Workback Policy for the Police 
Department; and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to successfully assist the City in addressing an anticipated increase in retirements 
in difficult-to-fill, highly specialized, and key management positions within the Police Department the 
Workback Policy will help the City to retain and attract experienced employees and/or candidates in 
these positions. This policy is further intended to help the City address the unfunded liability in the PERS 
system by redirecting PERS contributions as described in SB 1049 (2019); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Police Department Chief and Human Resources has therefore determined that it 
is necessary and appropriate to approve and authorize the Policy in connection with workback for 
employees in positions identified at the City of Sherwood Police Department as well as re-employment 
for any PERS Retiree (internal or external), and within the parameters specified herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sherwood City Council recognizes the need to maintain a current and legally sound 
workback policy and approves the August 2022 policy. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The City Council approves the August 16, 2022 Sherwood Police PERS Retiree 

Workback Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 
Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.  
 
Duly passed by the City Council this 16th of August, 2022. 
 
    
              
        Keith Mays, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder 
 

  

29



Page 1 of 2 

Administrative Policy 
Originating Department: Police Department/Human Resources 

Policy Title: PERS Retiree Workback 

Effective Date: August 16, 2022 

Policy Statement: The purpose of this policy is to assist the City in addressing an anticipated increase in 
retirements in difficult-to-fill, highly specialized, and key management positions by helping the City retain 
and attract experienced employees and candidates in those positions. This policy is further intended to help 
the City address the unfunded liability in the PERS system by redirecting PERS contributions as described in 
SB 1049 (2019).  

Eligibility:  The policy applies to all employees of the City of Sherwood’s Police Department as well as any 
other PERS Retiree (internal or external) who is receiving a service retirement benefit under Tier One/Tier 
Two or the Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP), or who has elected to retire without a PERS 
service retirement benefit may be employed by the City subject to the provisions outlined below. 

Guidelines - Scope: 
1. PERS Retirees may be employed in a regular, temporary, seasonal or on-call employment assignment.
2. The terms and conditions of the employment of a PERS retiree must be approved by the City Manager after

consulting with Human Resources prior to the employment of the retiree. The City Manager shall determine
whether it is in the public interest to employ the PERS Retiree because of the person’s knowledge, skills and
abilities.

3. The employment assignment of a PERS Retiree may be to a classification which they previously held in career
status or to another classification provided the Retiree is qualified for in the classification. PERS Retiree’s
who have never worked for the City previously, must participate in a competitive recruitment process.

4. Oregon statutes may impose certain restrictions on the employment of a person receiving PERS and/or
OPSRP retirement benefits. The employee is responsible for complying with statutory requirements. The City
of Sherwood is not responsible for the impact upon the retirement benefits of a PERS or OPSRP Retiree
resulting from their employment with the City.

5. PERS Retirees may continue their employment, subject to any statutory limitations, for as long as the City
determines their services are needed or until the sunset date of SB 1049.

6. PERS Retirees may be appointed into their position or classification they most recently held provided the
break in service is no longer than thirty (30) Days.

7. PERS Retirees may be considered for employment in positions other than the position or classification they
most recently held, or who have never been employed by the City previously through applying and
competing through a competitive recruitment process.

8. PERS Retirees who retire from PERS and return to work at the City of Sherwood, without having to apply
through a regular hiring process do not have recall rights.

Resolution 2022-068, Exh A 
August 16, 2022, Page 1 of 2

30



Page 2 of 2 

Periodic Review: 
This policy shall sunset on December 31, 2024 or be reviewed by City Council should provisions extend by SB 
1049 as needed, and updated as necessary. 

Review and Authorization: ______________________________ _____________________________ 
City Manager    Date 

Revision # City Manager Signature Date Nature of Revision 
1 
2 
3 

Resolution 2022-068, Exh A 
August 16, 2022, Page 2 of 2

31



Resolution 2022-069, Staff Report 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1, with attachment (1 pg) 

City Council Meeting Date: August 16, 2022 
 

Agenda Item: New Business 
 
 

TO:  Sherwood City Council 
 
FROM: Ty Hanlon, Police Chief  
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager and Alan Rappleyea, City Attorney 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-069, Authorizing Amendment of Compensation Policy for Police 

Sergeants at the Sherwood Police Department  
 
 
Issue: 
Should City Council Amend the Sergeants overtime policy? 
  
Background: 
In April 2011, The City Manager and Police Chief implemented a new policy to compensate Sergeants for 
overtime pay starting at eighty (80) hours, per fourteen (14) day work-period, (see attached policy.) This 
change meant that a Sergeant would not qualify for overtime until they had worked in excess of eighty (80) 
hours within a two (2) week pay-period.  
 
Sergeants are assigned to patrol and are included as a part of patrols minimum staffing.  
 
Sergeants do not make disciplinary decisions regarding personnel.  
 
The amendment of the Compensation Policy for Police Sergeants would mean that when a Sergeant 
exceeds forty (40) hours in a seven (7) day work week, they will be compensated at time and one-half (1.5) 
the employee’s regular rate.  
 
Financial Impact: 
Sergeants would be eligible for overtime in excess of forty (40) hours; this will impact and increase our 
overtime expenditure by $10-$15k per year. Sergeants may flex their schedules as needed within the 
identified fourteen (14) day pay-period as well.  
 
Recommendation: 
City legal counsel and staff respectfully recommend adoption of Resolution 2022-069, authorizing 
amendment of Compensation Policy for Police Sergeants at the Sherwood Police Department.  
 

32



of

Honte ol the'linlorírt Ríwr Nrtonal ltihllilr' tu-f yt

COMPENSATION POLICY FOR POLICE SERGEANTS
Effective April'17, 2011

City of Shenruood Police Sergeants are salaried employees and are classified as Management-Supervisory-
Confidential employees by the City of Sherwood.

Sergeants have City paid Health lnsurance benefits at the same rate as all City employees.

Sergeants accrue paid time off (PTO), Holiday Pay and Sick Leave at the same rate as all City of Sherwood
Management-Su pervisory-Confidential em ployees.

Sergeants are allowed to flex hours worked within an eighty (80) hour work period.

Sergeants shall receive overtime pay, for hours actually worked, in excess of eighty (80) hours per fourteen-
day work period. The fourteen-day work period coincides with the City's current pay period.

Sergeants may elect to be compensated for overtime worked in either cash, or by accruing compensatory time
off. Compensatory time off shall be accrued at one (1) and one-half (1/2) times the hours worked. The
compensatory time bank shall not exceed seventy (70) hours.

ln addition, City of Sherwood Police Sergeants shall be eligible to receive premium compensation as follows:

Residency within Sherwood City Limits 2.5o/o

Annual ORPAT Passing Exam $500.00

Premium compensation shall be computed based upon the employee's base salary.

This policy supersedes and replaces any and all previous policies, memorandums or letters regarding
Sergeant compensation and premium pay. lt is the right of City Management to change the criteria and or
amount of compensation at anytime, in the best interest of the City.

a
Police Chief

Ar",r (7, zst(

(

;l
Jim Patterson, City Manager

Resolution 2022-069, Exh to Staff Report 
August 16, 2022, Page 1 of 1

33



DRAFT 

Resolution 2022-069 
August 16, 2022 
Page 1 of 1, with Exhibit A (1 pg.) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2022-069 

 
AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT OF COMPENSATION POLICY FOR  

POLICE SERGEANTS AT THE SHERWOOD POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
WHEREAS, the City has a need to amend a compensation policy for Sergeants in the Police Department 
dated April 17, 2011; and 
 
WHEREAS, to legally compensate Sergeants that are working an excess of forty (40) hours in a seven 
(7) day work week. The work week begins on Sunday at 12:01 a.m. and ends at 12:00 a.m. on the 
following Saturday; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Police Department Chief, City Manager and City Attorney has therefore 
determined that it is necessary and appropriate to amend and authorize the Policy in connection with 
compensating employees in Sergeant positions as identified at the City of Sherwood Police Department 
for any work in excess of forty (40) hours in a seven (7) day work week at time and one-half (1.5) the 
employee’s regular rate which will be paid for authorized work; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sherwood City Council recognizes the need to maintain a current and legally sound 
overtime policy for Sergeants and approves the August 16, 2022 Amendment to the Compensation 
Policy for Police Sergeants dated April 17, 2011. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The City Council approves the August 16, 2022 Sherwood Police Department’s 

Amendment of Compensation Policy for Sergeants, attached as Exhibit A. 
 
Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.  
 
Duly passed by the City Council this 16th of August, 2022. 
 
 
              
        Keith Mays, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
      
Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder 
 

  

34



Page 1 of 1 

Administrative Policy 
Originating Department: Legal/Police Department/City Manager 

Policy Title: Compensation Policy for Police Sergeants 

Effective Date: August 16, 2022 

Policy Statement: The purpose of this policy amendment is to assist the Police Department in addressing 
compensating Sergeants for overtime for any hours exceeding 40 hours per seven (7) day work week. 

Eligibility:  The policy amendment applies to all employees classified as Sergeant within the Sherwood Police 
Department. 

Amended Guidelines: 
1. Sergeants have City paid Health Insurance benefits at the same rate as all City Management employees.
2. Sergeants accrue paid time off (PTO), Holiday Pay and Sick Leave at the same rate as all City Management

employees.
3. Sergeants are allowed to flex hours worked within the fourteen (14) day work period which coincides with

the City’s current payroll schedule.
4. Sergeants shall receive overtime pay for hours worked, in excess of forty (40) hours per seven (7) day work

week. The work week begins on Sunday at 12:01 a.m. and ends at 12:00 a.m. on the following Saturday.
5. Sergeants may elect to be compensated for overtime worked in either cash, or by accruing compensatory

time off. Compensatory time off shall be accrued at one and one-half (1.5) times the hours worked. The
compensatory time bank shall not exceed seventy (70) hours.

6. In addition, City of Sherwood Police Sergeants shall be eligible to receive premium compensation as follows:
a. Residency within Sherwood City Limits – 2.5%

This policy amends and supersedes and replaces any and all previous guidelines and policies, memorandums or 
letters regarding Sergeant compensation and premium pay. It is the right of City Management to change the criteria 
and or amount of compensation at any time, and in the best interest of the City. 

Review and Authorization: ______________________________ _____________________________ 
City Manager    Date 

Review and Authorization: ______________________________ _____________________________ 
Police Chief    Date 

Revision # City Manager Signature Date Nature of Revision 
1 
2 
3 

Resolution 2022-069, EXH A 
August 16, 2022, Page 1 of 1

35


	01 City Council Packet Cover 08.16.2022
	02 City Council Mtg Agenda 08.16.2022
	AGENDA

	03  07.19.2022 City Council Meeting Minutes - DRAFT
	5. ADJOURNED:
	9. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS:
	Councilor Scott reported that there was no Parks and Recreation Advisory Board meeting in July and they would meet in August. He stated that he was grateful to have the Robin Hood Festival back after its hiatus due to the pandemic.
	Councilor Young stated that she was grateful to have the Robin Hood Festival back. She thanked Mr. Soper for his years of service to the city and wished him well.
	Councilor Giles thanked City Attorney Soper for his service to the city. He reported on a recent Planning Commission meeting and commented on ongoing construction on Oregon Street. He thanked the members of the Planning Commission and all city boards ...
	Councilor Garland thanked City Attorney Soper for his work and commented he had enjoyed working with him. He reported that the Sherwood Foundation for the Arts’ production “Cinderella” would open the following weekend. He referred to Casey Chen’s reap...
	Mayor Mays thanked the Robin Hood Festival Association and city staff for their work over the weekend. He thanked City Attorney Soper for his work for the city over the years.
	Council President Rosener thanked City Attorney Soper for his years of service to the city. He reported that he would attend the National League of Cities meeting in Atlanta.
	10. ADJOURN:

	03.1  08.02.2022 City Council Meeting Minutes - DRAFT
	5. ADJOURNED:
	9. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS:
	Councilor Garland reported that Pride Disposal had launched a plastic clamshell container recycling program in July and stated that more information on the program could be found on their website. He advised people to stay safe during the heatwave.
	Council President Rosener reported he had attended the National League of Cities conference in Atlanta where they worked on updating the NLC’s policy direction. He reported that he had been appointed to the Oregon Broadband Advisory Council by the Gov...
	Councilor Scott reported that household batteries were also recyclable with Pride Disposal.
	Councilor Giles reported he attended the Planning Commission meeting where they were presented with information about a new multifamily unit being constructed off of Sherwood Boulevard and shared his enthusiasm about people attending the meeting and p...
	Mayor Mays referred to a notice that had gone out the previous weekend regarding water and clarified that there was no risk of Sherwood being short on water as a community. He explained that it had to do with when the replacement pump was installed an...
	10. ADJOURN:

	03.2  08.10.2022 City Council Meeting Minutes - DRAFT
	5. ADJOURN:

	04  Resolution 2022-066 Reappoint Kady Strode to Budget Committee - Staff Report
	05  Resolution 2022-066 Reappoint Kady Strode to Budget Committee - DRAFT
	06  Resolution 2022-067 Auth Contract for Police Dept Firing Range - STAFF REPORT
	07  Resolution 2022-067 Auth Contract for Police Dept Firing Range  - DRAFT
	08  Resolution 2022-068 Auth Workback Policy Police Dept  - STAFF REPORT
	09  Resolution 2022-068 Auth Workback Policy Police Dept - DRAFT
	10  Resolution 2022-068 Auth Workback Policy Police Dept - EXH A
	11  Resolution 2022-069 Auth Amendment of Sergeant Compensation Policy - STAFF REPORT
	12  Resolution 2022-069 Auth Amendment of Sergeant Compensation Policy - EXH to STAFF REPORT
	13  Resolution 2022-069 Auth Amendment of Sergeant Compensation Policy - DRAFT
	14  Resolution 2022-069 Auth Amendment of Sergeant Compensation Policy - EXH A



